Microfluidics technology for drug delivery: A review

Elena I. Mancera-Andrade¹, Ali Parsaeimehr¹, Alejandra Arevalo-Gallegos¹, Guadalupe Ascencio-Favela¹, Roberto Parra-Saldivar^{1,2,3,4}

¹School of Engineering and Sciences, Tecnologico de Monterrey, Campus Monterrey Monterrey, Ave. Eugenio Garza Sada 2501, 64849, Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico, ²Biomedicals Innovation Research Center, Division of Biomedical Engineering, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, 02139, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, Harvard-MIT Division of Health Sciences and Technology, 02139, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA, ⁴Microsystems Technologies Laboratories, MIT, 02139, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Fabrication of drug delivery carriers
 - 3.1. Single and multiple emulsion in microfluidics
 - 3.2. Carrier materials
- 4. Drug formulation
- 5. Immobilization of drugs using microfluidics for drug delivery
- 6. Delivery of drugs via microfluidics
- 7. Microfluidics as a tool for drug delivery: from cellular to organ level
 - 7.1. On-site analysis
 - 7.2. Protein crystallization
- 8. Microfluidics and High-throughput screening
 - 8.1. Multiplexed systems
 - 8.2. Microwell arrays
 - 8.3. Plug-based systems
- 9. Organ-on-a-chip
- 10. Microfluidics for cancer cells studies
- 11. Summary and perspective
- 12. Acknowledgments
- 13. References

1. ABSTRACT

Microfluidics is undoubtedly an influential technology that is currently revolutionizing the chemical and biological studies by replicating laboratory benchtop technology on a miniature chip-scale device. In the area of drug delivery science, microfluidics offers advantages, such as precise dosage, ideal delivery, target-precise delivery, sustainable and controlled release, multiple dosing, and slight side effects. These advantages bring significant assets to the drug delivery systems. Microfluidic technology has been progressively used for fabrication of drug carriers, direct drug delivery systems, high-throughput screening, and formulation and immobilization of drugs. This review discusses the recent technological progress, outcomes and available opportunities for the usage of microfluidics systems in drug delivery systems.

2. INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, new drug developments and drug delivery approaches have attracted considerable attention, and most of the studies in this area of science have focused on increasing the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of the drugs, decreasing the side effects of the drugs, and improving the comfort and satisfaction of the patients (1).

The conventional delivery methods, such as oral, sublingual, rectal, intravenous, subcutaneous, and intramuscular drug deliveries have disadvantages, such as low solubility and permeability, degradation by the enzymes, interactions with foods, probable toxicity due to the incorrect drug dosage, inflammation, and irregular absorption (2). Nevertheless, new technologies, like microfluidics are potent to solve these

problems. Latest developments in microfabrication have opened the opportunity to control the microfluidic systems that may apply for biological systems. Indeed, microfluidics in comparison to the other traditional fabricated devices has lower costs for fabrication, and it offers better functionality and reliability combined with different miniature devices. Additionally, the miniaturized usage of components and the accurate control of the volume of fluid in microfluidics reduce the waste products, and it enables accurate temperature control and rapid temperature exchange (3). Evidence demonstrate that, the microfluidic systems have a great potential to be used in a vast area of applications, such as chemical screening, cell culture, cell separation and one single cell manipulation, electrophoretic separations, and DNA sequencing (4). The microfluidics drug delivery systems can be used for the proteins, peptides, and the DNA-based drugs that are vulnerable to enzymatic degradation through the long pathway of current drug delivery systems (5). The portable miniaturized microfluidic devices allow mobile applications in chemical analysis and in producing drug on demand. Also, microfluidic systems have the potential to provide an efficient microarray platform for the fabrication of a range of pharmaceutical materials in micro and Nano-scale (6). At the Micro and Nanoscale, the surface-based phenomena become more significant than volume-based phenomena and the viscous resistance of the laminar flow. Additionally, the convective transport and mixing are more difficult on these scales. Therefore, the mass transport depends mostly on molecular diffusion (7). Considerably, these characteristics of microfluidic systems are valuable for studying the drug delivery systems, since the size of the drugs and the cells are at the scale of nanometers and micrometer, respectively. Recently, significant progress has been stated on using microfluidics for the drug delivery, for example, the possibility of the control and the release of the bioactive molecule "dexamethasone" from microfibers of a hyaluronic acid amphiphilic derivative obtained by microfluidic through changing the salt concentration have been reported (8). Also, a cheap, reproducible and effective technique based on microfluidic technology for the synthesis vinvlidene fluoride-co-chlorotrifluoroethylene microstructures with tailored architecture, morphology, and wettability is reported by Cardoso et al. (9).

Microfluidics can be used for the synthesis of the polymers with precise forms or chemistries that have applications in tissue engineering, barcoding, diagnostic imaging, and drug delivery. An example is the strategy of using the capillary instability-driven breakup of a liquid jet formed by two immiscible fluids to produce polymer particles with different shapes and morphologies developed by Nie *et al.* (10). The described strategy allows precise control of the emulsification process, leading to the production of monodispersed droplets with controlled morphologies in a size range from 20 to 200 μm.

In addition, microfluidic systems can be applied for screening the process and synthesizing the homogenous particles for the delivery of the drugs. In this regard, Wu et al. used a microfluidic device to study the interactions between the microstructures and profile of the drug release by synthesis of the monodisperse poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres at the varied diameters sizes (11). They found out dissimilarities in the expansion rates with small and large poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres have homogeneous and heterogeneous drug release characteristics, respectively. Moreover, monodisperse particles (polydispersity index=3.9%, defined as the ratio between the standard deviation and the mean diameter of particles multiplied by 100) in a defined size range from 10µm to 50 µm were fabricated by Xu et al. using a microfluidic device (12). Kinetic analysis of the monodisperse particles showed that, the release of the drug is slower than that of conventional methods of the same average size. The difference in the initial kinetics of drug release was attributed to the uniform distribution of the drug inside the particles generated by the microfluidic device. Metz et al. also used the implantable and flexible polyimide probes with microelectrodes and embedded microfluidic channels for simultaneous, selective chemical delivery drug delivery and multi-channel monitoring of bioelectric activities (13).

All of these evidence shows that microfluidics technologies have the potential to be used as a game changer in drug delivery systems. The objective of this study is to discuss the recent technological progress, outcomes and available opportunities for the usage of microfluidics systems in drug delivery systems.

3. FABRICATION OF DRUG DELIVERY CARRIERS

Drug delivery systems (DDS) require a uniform and well-shaped capsule for the immobilization of drugs into microparticles (MP) and nanoparticles (NP). Different authors have summarized methodologies used to produce NPs (14,15). However, several techniques involve in the usage of reagents with a significant level of toxicity or biological hazards that suppose a risk to the environment (16). Different challenges using NPs for drug encapsulation have been addressed, emphasizing those associated with physical characteristics, such as size distribution, nonuniform shape, and encapsulation efficiencies (17). For this reason, the techniques to produce MPs or NPs are the key factor to obtain identical, uniform and homogenous particles to enhance drug encapsulation. In this regard, microfluidics as a multidisciplinary engineering field with well-established techniques may represent an alternative to aid most of the MPs and NPs problems regarding their physical characteristics. The development of an effective drug carrier means

fabricating a material that improves bioavailability, stabilizes reduces the side effects and releases the drug in a controlled manner. For example, oral delivery carriers should resist the acidic conditions of the stomach to be released in the small intestine and pass through the intestinal membrane to the bloodstream.

Microfluidic devices allow the fabrication of uniform particles, such as microparticles, microcapsules, and microgels via single or multiple emulsions as templates (18). For example, recently non-ionic surfactant based vesicles (niosomes) that are self-assembled synthetic membrane from a mixture of cholesterol and diacetyl phosphate was fabricated via microfluidics. Also, a microfluidic device was designed that allows the rapid mixing of two miscible reagents in microchannels to obtain niosomes 40% smaller than those produced by the bulk method (19). Another device was fabricated to produce synthetic nanoparticles by controlling the precipitation of polymers via manipulation of the flow in the microfluidic channels to produce nanoparticles from PLGA-PEG and PLGA (20).

One of the main advantages of using this technology in DDS is even though that, the small amounts of drugs and reagents are needed, but enhancements in drug encapsulation, and productions of uniform particles with lower variation coefficient (<5%) are observable (21,22). This higher efficiency of the drug encapsulation is because of the active component is mixed with the dispersed phase, which will later become automatically encapsulated in the process. Tailor-made nano and microparticles can be achieved by changing different parameters, such as fluid phase flow rate, equipment geometry, and liquid properties, such as Revnolds number, capillary number, and viscosity (19,22). Several studies have found out that microfluidics systems enhances the ratio of loading drug into the particle (23), and it can allow the encapsulation of multiple drugs in one particle even if these drugs have a hydrophobic or hydrophilic nature (24,25).

Materials and the geometry are two main parameters for fabrication of a microfluidic device. Different materials have been used for fabrication of microfluidics devices, includeing polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) (26.27), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) (28,29), polycarbonate (PC) (30), cyclic olefin copolymer (COC) (31,32), polyetheretherketone (PEEK) (33), polyimide plastic resin (PIPR) (13,34), glass (35,36), quartzose (37,38), and silicon (39). Also, the combination of two materials, such as PMMA and PC (40) or PDMS and PC (41) were used by the researchers. Some of the most common geometries for microfluidics devices are T-junction (42,43), co-flowing (44), and flow-focusing (45,46). In the case of T-junction geometries, two immiscible fluids are joined by an intersection where two channels converge forming a

"T" shape. The resulting mixing of both phases directs the flow in one direction to the end of the device. The co-flowing geometry directs both phases in the same orientation. A microchannel is immersed in another microchannel, where the dispersed phase is placed in the inner channel, while the continuous phase is placed between the outer, inner channel and inside the outer channel. In flow focusing geometries, both phases are in contrary directions until they intersect at the end of the inner channel. The dispersed phase enters the inner channel while the continuous phase streams between outer and inner channels and enters the inner channel too. Despite the basic configurations, a microfluidic device with multiple geometries can be designed to obtain a desired effect on the droplets. Continuous T-junction intersections can create different droplets conformations or combining T-junctions followed by a flow focusing geometry.

3.1. Single and multiple emulsion in microfluidics

Single emulsions are formed by mixing of two immiscible liquids where a dispersed phase is placed into a continuous phase. Particles are produced due to the convergence of both phases in an intersection of the device. Each phase can be either a hydrophilic solution or hydrophobic one. The nature of the particle will be manipulated by selection of the solution for dispersed or continuous phase. Water-in-oil (W/O) droplets can be generated when water is used as a continuous phase, and it is used for hydrophobic drugs. Oil-in-water (O/W) droplets are generated when oil is used as a dispersed phase, and water is placed as a continuous phase. As previously mentioned, droplet morphology, size, and shape controlled by changing specific parameters, such as flow rate, the geometry of the device, and dimensionless parameters (Reynolds and capillary number). A multiple emulsion can be defined as an emulsion in an emulsion. The nature of the phase will determine which type of emulsion will be. Multiple emulsions consist of several drops immersed into a second phase, and then the past mixture is immersed into a third phase. The most common multiple emulsions consist of a water-inoil-in-water (W₄/O/W₂) and oil-in-water-in-oil (O₄/W/ O_a). However, other solvents can be used based on the nature of the phase (i.e. water can be exchanged for any aqueous or polar phase while oil can be exchanged for any hydrophobic solution). Depending on the number of the phases employed, emulsions can be classified as double, triple, and quadruple, and so on. From all the multiple emulsions that can be formed, double emulsions are preferred because they simplify the production of tailor-made droplets with the desired size, structure and composition, and allow to use those droplets as a template of other microcapsules (47). In comparison with single emulsions, double emulsions allow the encapsulation of polar and nonpolar molecules, and it can enhance the controlled

| Drug | Description | Applications | Encapsulation Material | Ref. |
|--------------|-----------------------------------|---|------------------------|------|
| Camptothecin | Topoisomerase I inhibitor | Anti-cancer: Colon Cancer | PLA; PLGA | 58 |
| Bupivacaine | Local anesthetic | Local infiltration, peripheral nerve block | PLGA | 12 |
| Rifampicin | Inhibits bacterial RNA polymerase | Anti-mycobacterium: tuberculosis, leprosy | PLGA | 60 |
| Haloperidol | Dopamine antagonist | Psychiatry: mood disorders, schizoaffective disorders | PLGA | 60 |
| Insulin | Therapeutic protein | Diabetes Mellitus 1 and 2 | Chitosan | 61 |

release because of the additional barrier produced with the middle phase enhancing the flexibility of the droplet formed (22). Multiple emulsions are usually designed to encapsulate food additives or drugs for pharmaceutical purposes (48,49).

3.2. Carrier materials

Different materials can be used to produce micro and nanoparticles (50). The main characteristics of a suitable material are biodegradability, biocompatibility, and non-toxicity. In this regard, mesoporous materials provide systems with a uniform porous surface that can be easily functionalized with other materials, such as iron oxide, gold, silver, etc. Different mesoporous materials have been used to encapsulate drugs, proteins or bioactive compounds, such as MCM-41 (51), MCF (52) and SBA-15 (53). Lately, magnetic particles have gained attention due to their ability to target specific cells in the body without being an invasive treatment. Magnetite (Fe_3O_4) and maghemite $(\gamma-Fe_2O_3)$ are the most common materials used to functionalize a particle with magnetic characteristics additionally to the low toxicity and stability that they present (50). Metallic materials, such as gold, aluminum, platinum, silver, and titanium dioxide are also used for that purpose (54). However. polymeric materials are widely for their biocompatibility. low toxicity, biodegradability, and sustained controlled release over long periods. Polymers can be modified to achieve a better response in physiological environments (55). In microfluidics, polymers, such as poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA) (23), polylactide (PLA) and its family of copolymers, including poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) (56,57), poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) (23), and poly(caprolactone) (PCL) (23) are being used to immobilize bioactive compounds to study their feasibility as a drug delivery carriers. For example, camptothecin, an anticancer drug, has been encapsulated into PLA and PLGA matrices. These matrices were selected microencapsulated because they have the most attractive fluidic structure in pharmaceutics since it gathers certain characteristics needed by this industry, such as immobilization process (e.g. cells, proteins or enzymes), protection against degradation, and drugdelivery control (58). Table 1 presents some studies related to drug encapsulation in PLA and PLGA matrixes. To manufacture the droplets, Ito et al. used Shirasu Porous Glass (SPG) membranes (58). Their results

showed the particles obtained of 2–3 µm in diameter had higher encapsulation efficiency in PLA than in PLGA, the same result was observed with drug release. Amphiphilic drugs have been encapsulated as well in PLGA matrix, for example, Xu et al. encapsulated bupivacaine (12). Also, microencapsulation was performed with PLGA containing rifampicin a drug used to treat tuberculosis. This microencapsulation was obtained by microchannel emulsification-solvent evaporation method. Haloperidol, a dopamine antagonist, used in psychiatry is also an example of microencapsulation made with PLGA, which has been performed with a modified membrane encapsulation process called Cross Flow Membrane Emulsification (XME) (60).

Membrane emulsification technique is used in combination with a cross-linking method to encapsulate peptides and proteins. Wang *et al.* prepared chitosan microspheres containing insulin and they obtained a high efficiency and maintained its chemical stability (61). The examples mentioned have demonstrated that microencapsulation can be versatile and its process is modifiable to help maintain the solubility and bioavailability of the target drug.

4. DRUG FORMULATION

The candidate drug has to be evaluated for toxicological and pharmacological effects both using in vitro and in vivo assays. In the case of toxicological studies, the cell-cell interactions can be mimicked with a microfluidic system using a network of interconnected chambers, with each chamber representing an organ. The effects of combinations of drugs can also be tested with these systems (62). Preclinical assessment of cytotoxicity using organ-in-a-chip systems can replicate in vivo conditions (3). During a clinical trial, pharmacokinetic (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) profiles for the drug in humans have to be established. The PK profile measures absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination of the drug, while the PD profile measures physiological and biological response to the drug. Blood sampling and processing are key for determining both of these profiles (62).

Drugs can be encapsulated to be protected from degradation via enzymes or to decrease toxicity and liposomes can be used to encapsulate

| Table 2. Different microfluidics systems and carrier materials used for drug delive | Table 2. | . Different | microfluidics | systems a | and carrier | materials | used for | drua deliver | / |
|---|----------|-------------|---------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|----------|--------------|---|
|---|----------|-------------|---------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|----------|--------------|---|

| Material used | Geometry | Carrier material | Drug | Application | Ref. |
|----------------------|-----------------------------------|---|---|--|------|
| Glass | Co-flowing | Human serum albumin | Doxorubicin | Hepatic cancer | 44 |
| PEEK and silica tube | T junction | Poly(methyl acrylate) and poly(acrylamide) | Ketoprofen and ranitidine | Suppression of gastric irritation effects: bleeding and ulceration | 24 |
| Silicon | Flow focusing | PLGA | Ciclosporin | - | 57 |
| PDMS | Co-flowing with herringbone shape | Liposomes | Propofol | Anesthetic agent | 102 |
| Quartz | Chip | Hyaluronic acid and ethylenediamine | Dexamethasone | Cell differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells | 8 |
| Glass | Co-flowing and flow-focusing | Polycaprolactone, poly(vinyl alcohol) and poly(ethylene glycol) | Bovine serum albumin | Protein therapy | 23 |
| PDMS | T junction | Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate | 5-fluorouracil | Cancer therapy | 103 |
| PDMS | Flow focusing | Echogenic liposomes | Recombinant tissue- plasminogen activator (rt-PA) | Ischemic stroke | 64 |
| PMMA | V-junction | Poly(methylsilsesquioxane) | Itraconazole | Antifungal drug for infections | 104 |

drugs and reduce their toxicity. In this regard, a microfluidic channel was fabricated to formulate liposome-encapsulated drugs by using a stream of lipids dissolved in alcohol divided into two sheathed streams in a microfluidic channel. The particle size could be changed from 50 to 150 nm by adjusting the ratio of alcohol/aqueous flow rate (62). Phospholipid nanoparticles were prepared using microfluidic technology, and the resulting liposomes were compared to those formed via the more commonly used thin film hydration method. There were no negative effects on the encapsulation efficiency, and overall microfluidic liposome preparation was a more simple, faster process compared to the thin film hydration technique (63). Protein microcapsules were developed via the emulsion technique using a water-oil-water system in a microfluidic device. The encapsulation efficiency was estimated to be 84%, and the obtained particles were stable for up to 4 weeks. These results suggest that this encapsulation system could be potentially applied for the drug delivery (23).

5. IMMOBILIZATION OF DRUGS USING MICROFLUIDICS FOR DRUG DELIVERY

In the case of drug delivery systems, the immobilization or drug loading into a particle using microfluidic systems begins with the mixing of the drug with one of the phases. Depending on the number of phases used, the encapsulation of the drug can be achieved using either single or multiple emulsions. The particle formation occurs when the drug mixed into the dispersed phase is passed through the microchannel and contacts a second phase (continuous phase). The shear rate caused by the fluid and the contact with walls of the microchannel allows the formation of the particle. This self-assembly reaction is achieved through a process called hydrodynamic flow focusing

(HFF) (3). Usually, hydrophobic drugs are loaded using oil-in-water (O/W) phases, while hydrophilic drugs are loaded using water-in-oil (W/O) phases. Table 2 presents some applications of drug delivery carriers produced with microfluidic devices.

Bains et al. studied the effect of water content of the dye (as a fluorescent probe) 1.1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethyl indocarbocyanine perchlorate (Dil) into a poly(ε-caprolactone)-block-poly(ethylene oxide) (PCL-b-PEO) nanoparticle produced in a gas-liquid segmented microfluidic device. The designed geometry consisted of sinusoidal mixing channel of 100µm wide and 100mm in length, while the whole channel had a size of 200µm wide and 740 mm in length with a channel depth of 150 um. The encapsulation of Dil loaded PCL-b-PEO nanoparticles involved the injection of 4 phases in the microfluidic device: (1) argon gas (Ar), (2) solution of PCL-b-PEO in dimethylformamide (DMF) with Dil dissolved, (3) water and DMF, and (4) DMF. The procedure followed allowed the formation of small spheres, lamellae and long filaments with a size of 70 nm, 800 nm, and 2000 nm respectively at a flow rate of 25 µL/min. Interestingly, filaments were not produced when the flow rate was increased at the double. However, filaments were produced again when a third increment of the flow rate at the double was done, meaning that the shape and size of the particles produced are dependent on the flow rate. Regarding the loading efficacies at the different water, concentrations were found out that at high water content (75%) the loading efficiency was 53% while at lower water concentrations (10%) had a higher loading efficiency 94%. Drug release was found to be faster at low water content, and a sustained and longer release was observed at higher water content (26).

Another interesting study in this area is the production of microbeads using microfluidics to encapsulate doxorubicin (DOXO) in human serum albumin (HAS) microparticles for the transcatheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE) of hepatic cancer (44). In this study, the material used for fabrication of the microfluidic device was glass using a co-flowing geometry. The used tube had an inner diameter of 0.5.8 mm and an outer diameter of 1 mm. The glass tube was tapered in one of the ends by heating with a final diameter from 200 to 250 µm. The single emulsion (W/O) used was formed by an oil phase (MCT oil) with 1% (v/v/v) of Span 80 and glutaraldehyde (solidifying agent), and the aqueous phase contained HSA solution with 0.2.% (w/v) DOXO and Tween 80. The flow rate used for the aqueous phase and the continuous phases were 3 mL/h and 10 mL/h respectively. The solidification of the particles was achieved by chemical crosslinking of glutaraldehyde with HSA. The particle size was obtained in an average of 183 µm when a ratio of the oil phase and the aqueous phase was 30:1. The decrement of the oil phase flow (5:1) increased the particle size almost at double of size (351 µm). It is very clear that one of the main parameters for particle size is the flow rate of at least one of the phases. In vitro results showed a fast release of the drug in the first 24 h of 10% of the total loaded drug, but after that, the release was sustained in the following 30 days with a total release of 16%. Regarding the in vivo results, this technique helped to inhibit tumor growth and DOXO-HSA particles were observed in the tissue after 24 days of the injection. TACE technique resulted in being more efficient than free DOXO injection in the tumor.

A microfluidic device allows the encapsulation of multiple drugs in the same droplet. An example is the Khan et al. studies on the encapsulation of ketoprofen and ranitidine HCI into a core-shell microparticle (24). In this case, ketoprofen was loaded into the core composed of poly (methyl acrylate), while ranitidine HCl was loaded into the shell composed of poly (acrylamide). The average size of the particles produced ranged between 100 to 151 µm. Two T-geometry were used in the microfluidic device, which was manufactured with an internal tube of PEEK and an external tube of PTFE (polytetrafluoroethylene). Silicon oil was used as a continuous phase, and the dispersed phases were ranitidine-shell and ketoprofencore. After the T-junction, UV irradiation was applied to polymerize the particles using 704 mW/cm² irradiation. In this specific case, the flow rate of the continuous phase and middle phase (Q₂/Q_m) played an important role in the formation of the particles because when this ratio was increased, the particles produced were smaller. The encapsulation efficiency for ketoprofen was higher than ranitidine HCl with more than 80% and 50% respectively. Drug release of ranitidine HCl was faster than ketoprofen, and it had a fast release

of both drugs in the first 8 h, while a sustained release was obtained up to 24 h.

Other study manufactured particles of recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator (rt-PA) into echogenic liposomes (64), that is an FDA approved the drug for the treatment of ischemic stroke. The microfluidic device used was fabricated with PDMS and had complex flow-focusing geometry. Lipid phase was placed in the outer channel while the rt-PA was placed in the inner channel. The average size of the particles obtained was 5 um. The encapsulation efficiency of the drug into the liposome was 69%. Despite the formation of particles, their stability was observed at least 30 min. It was found that a surfactant, Pluronic F-127, provided stability to the particles and reduced particle aggregation post-production. In this case, particle size was dependent on the lipid flow rates because the size decreased when the lipid flow increased, and drug flow was maintained constant. However, it was found that microfluidic device produced less rt-PA loaded in liposomes than conventional methods. For this reason, future studies need to be performed to solve the main drawbacks: particle stability, particle aggregation and some particles produced.

Dhar et al. performed an assay to treat the prostate cancer through NPs (65). NPs were assembled using a microfluidic channel to perform targeted co-delivery of cisplatin and docetaxel. The protocol was based on conjugation of PLA to succinic acid-derivatized Pt prodrug to gel cisplatin prodrug functionalized polylactide (PLA-Pt(IV)). Then, this prodrug and docetaxel were nano precipitated. Afterward, the surface was functionalized with 10-Aptameter to get targeted NPs. The NPs had a high encapsulation efficiency of hydrophilic and hydrophobic drugs. The mechanism of action of the targeted NPs consists in binding to the prostate specific membrane antigen on prostate cancer cells, and then they are internalized via endocytosis. This internalization was verified by using fluorescent dye.

Xi et al. developed another simple and economical method for encapsulation of two anticancer drugs using the fluidic nanoprecipitation system and PLGA polymer (66). They used different solubilities, such as paclitaxel (hydrophobic) and doxorubicin hydrochloride (hydrophilic). This system enables nanoprecipitation to encapsulate hydrophobic drugs and emulsification for hydrophilic drugs in a simultaneous way.

6. DELIVERY OF DRUGS VIA MICROFLUIDICS

The microneedles system is also a good example of drug delivery via microfluidics. Some examples of this technique include a microneedle patch

| Table 3. The materials used for fabrication of | f drug careers | in microfluidics systems |
|---|----------------|--------------------------|
|---|----------------|--------------------------|

| Application | Material | Ref. |
|---|--|------|
| Transdermal delivery of insulin | Calcium sulfate and gelatin | 105 |
| Transdermal delivery | Polyvinyl alcohol and maltose loaded with sinomenine hydrochloride | 106 |
| Rabies vaccination in dogs | Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) | 107 |
| Transcutaneous immunization | Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) | 108 |
| Polio vaccination | Polyimide-coated fused-silica capillaries | 109 |
| Insulin delivery | Polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) | 110 |
| Donepezil hydrochloride delivery (treatment forAlzheimer's disease) | Hydroxy-propyl-methylcellulose | 111 |
| Tetanus vaccine | Polyvinyl alcohol, sucrose, and CMC | 112 |
| Ocular drug delivery | Solid, titanium-based | 113 |

with 57 microneedles coated with 5-aminolevulinic acid. This device showed a better and deeper penetration in skin compared to topical formulations (67). Also, electrodes were fabricated using polymeric microneedles to detect glucose and lactic acid in solution using the enzymes glucose oxidase and lactose oxidase. This biosensor showed a linear response for both glucose and lactic acid with a detection limit of up to 1 μ M (68). Microneedles have recently been used for studying immunization reactions. *In vitro* analysis proved that a higher penetration with the microneedles resulted in a higher immunoglobulin G2 (igG2) titer than commercial tetanus toxoid vaccines (69).

7. MICROFLUIDICS AS A TOOL FOR DRUG DELIVERY: FROM CELLULAR TO ORGAN LEVEL

The process of drug discovery begins with the selection of the target gene or protein that can be affected by the drug, followed by optimization of the drug (either a technical or commercial approach) and clinical trials. Microfluidics technologies offer several advantages over the conventional drug manufacturing methods, such as easy manipulation of fluids with a higher precision, using minimal reagents, achieving fast reaction times. These devices can be applied for preclinical tests, dosage development, cytotoxicity studies, target selection and validation (62). The applications of microfluidics technologies in the drug-delivery area are on-site analysis, protein crystallization, compound generation, high-throughput screening, organ-on-a-chip and fabrication of drug carriers (Table 3).

7.1. On-site analysis

On-site analysis refers to the quantification of protein content, protein separation, or single amino acids analysis from a lysed cell in a microfluidic device. An examples is a device developed by Huag *et al.* that can lyse, separate and quantify the protein content in a single cell (70). Protein labeling is carried out via

fluorescent-antibody binding; the molecule count is carried out with cylindrical optics. Other example is the microfluidic chip-capillary electrophoresis devices made of poly (methyl methacrylate) that allows on-site analysis by checking an ample range of biomarkers such as electrolytes or proteins with a small amount of sample (71). A heteroduplex mobility assay was developed by Chenouard et al. to detect mutations to differentiate between wild-type and genome-edited animals that allow easier detection and analysis of these mutations (72). Also, a carbon-polydimethylsiloxane composite electrode was developed via in situ polyaddition to detect the constituents in Rhizoma chuanxiona, a traditional Chinese herbal medicine. This device was coupled with capillary electrophoresis to separate and detect metabolites such as vanillin acid. caffeic acid and ferulic acid (73).

Particle separation based on size can be achieved via inertia, hydrodynamic effects like elasticity, among others. Viscoelasticity-induced particle separation has particularly gathered attention because of its ability to gather separation in a wide range of flow rates. This type of separation consists of pushing larger particles downstream by elastoinertial mechanisms in a straight channel; however, the purity of the particles decreases with a bigger particle concentration (74). Liu et al. achieved separation of particles of a variety of sizes in a low throughput regime and tested the mechanism via cell separation in E. coli and red blood cells (75). A two-stage microfluidic device for sheathless particle separation was developed. Results indicated that, at the first stage the particles in a range of 5 to 10 um diameter were concentrated at the central channel and then successfully separated at the second stage. The device was later tested for blood cell separation with positive results (76).

Evidences point to this fact that, different microfluidic systems have different hydrodynamic forces, for example, the straight channel is the simplest designs for ordering particles based on inertial forces.

In addition, multiple equilibrium positions can be used to collect different particles. Curved spiraling channels use the "dean flow," a secondary flow caused by the curvature of the channel to separate particles (77).

7.2. Protein crystallization

Protein crystallization is achieved by creating a supersaturated solution that does not disturb the natural state of the molecule. This is achieved by adding precipitating agents and modifying conditions, such as temperature or pH. The main application for protein crystallization is x-ray analysis (78). Protein crystallization is carried out via testing or screening of various chemical conditions, such as salts, buffers, and precipitating agents. Since each protein crystallizes at a very specific chemical condition, a large amount of sample is required, as well as a large amount of reagents (62). Hence different purification techniques must be applied before protein crystallization to achieve a high pure molecule such as chromatographic separation, ultrafiltration, aqueous two-phase systems. among others (79).

Microfluidic technology allows the screening of several crystallization conditions at the same time with only a small amount of protein sample. Recently, microfluidic devices have been designed to carry out crystallization trials in a nano-scale volume. A centrifuge-based microfluidic device was developed to perform crystallization tests by vapor diffusion; the device consisted of 24 chambers, two capillary stop valves, and vapor-diffusion chambers. The device was tested and compared to more conventional crystallization techniques; it was found out that this device was able to explore a wider range of crystallization conditions as well as faster reaction times and lower cost (80). Another microfluidic device was developed to test crystallization conditions via a semi-contact dispensing method. The volume of each droplet was between 4 and 8 nL. Up to 96 crystallization conditions could be analyzed in the device (81). Finally, a device capable of crystal formation at specific locations in the microchip was developed to perform statistical analysis of crystallization. The device was formed of PDMS chambers, each containing an oil/water interface, and connected to a central channel, and was able to control where in the device the crystal formation was carried out (82).

8. MICROFLUIDICS AND HIGH-THROUGHPUT SCREENING

High-throughput screening (HTS) is usually performed using multiple-well plates; micro-scale technology allows researchers to use a smaller amount of reagent and faster reaction times. Examples of these technologies are multiplexed systems, microwell

arrays, plug-based systems and gradient-generating devices (62).

8.1. Multiplexed systems

This system involves the use of several valves, actuators, and pumps to control the delivery of several fluids to each chamber independently. Multiplex systems main feature is a fluidic rotatory mixer that allows multiple processes to occur at the same time. Some applications of this kind of microfluidic device include detection of food pathogens, such as Escherichia coli and Salmonella (83), screening of pesticides or drugs, such as the self-assembled biocompatible, non-toxic dual-color encoded DNAzyme nanodevice developed for screening of UO₂²⁺ and Pb²⁺ in living cells (84). Also, the immunochromatographic device based on chemiluminescence for detection of ractopamine and clenbuterol (85) and the immunochromatographic test strip developed by Shu et al. for pesticides residues screening using chemiluminescence and a bifunctional antibody that can recognize parathion and imidacloprid simultaneously within 22 minutes (86).

8.2. Microwell arrays

Microwell-based microfluidic devices can be applied for a range of applications, such as drug screening. A microfluidic chip that allows for drug screening in tumor cells was developed to study both the cytotoxic effect of a cancer treatment drug, such as paclitaxel or doxorubicin as well as the drug signaling pathway (87). However, cell trapping and analysis is the main application for these types of microfluidic devices. Ornoff et al. developed a structure comprised of microwells with hydrogel at the bottom that allowed cells to be trapped in each well (88). This structure allowed culture survival while ensuring that each cell to be separated from one another and is useful for highthroughput studies; there are also microwell systems applied to dielectrophoretic cell trapping and analysis (89) or as a measurement tool for bioleaching cultures (90). A PEG microwell system has also been developed for studying the formation of embryoid bodies (EBs) (91) and another one for studying the response patterns of calcium channels as well as quantifying single cell responses in human T-lymphocyte cells (92).

8.3. Plug-based systems

Plugs function as small containers in which reactions can be performed. This type of system can allow studies with limited volume sample, such as the study of aggregation patterns of amyloidogenic peptides in cerebrospinal fluid from mice (93). The plugs can be dispensed into another material, such as a membrane (94). Blood typing and subtyping have also been achieved with this technology: multiple agglutination assays were carried out in

| Table 4 | Microfluidics | systems | used for | Organ-on | -a-chin | application |
|----------|----------------------|-----------------|----------|------------|-----------|-------------|
| I abic T | . Iviioi oilulululos | 3 4 3 () 11 13 | uscu ioi | Oldali-oli | -a-ci iib | application |

| Microfluidic device material | Geometry | Organ/tissue | Application | Ref. |
|------------------------------|--|---|---|------|
| PDMS | Co-flowing | Brain tissue | Toxicological and pharmacological profiling and discovery of new drugs. | 114 |
| PDMS and glass | Complex co-flowing | Human renal proximal tubular cell line | Renal interstitial fibrosis. | 115 |
| PDMS | Complex co-flowing | Human bronchial epithelial cells | Lung cancer studies. | 116 |
| - | - | Human brain endothelial cells | Study brain barrier function. | 117 |
| PDMS | Complex co-flowing | Retinal lineage cells | Degenerative retinal diseases. | 118 |
| PMMA and PDMS | Complex co-flowing | Neonatal rate cardiomyocytes and human umbilical vein endothelial cells | Cardiovascular toxicity evaluation of pharmaceutical compounds. | 119 |
| PDMS | Co-flowing | Primary cortical neurons | Alzheimer's disease. | 120 |
| PDMS | Co-flowing | Brain tissue (axons) | Traumatic brain injuries. | 121 |
| Glass and agarose | - | Cardiomyocytes | Cardiomyocyte beating synchronization. | 122 |
| РММА | Co-flowing (three- forked sheath structure) | Red blood cells and cardiomyocyte cells | Cell sorting. | 123 |

parallel with the advantages of avoiding cross-contamination and using very little blood volume (95). Additionally, extraction of the plugs can be carried out magnetically, using a hydrophilic patch in a hydrophobic channel that allows the particles to be removed (96).

9. ORGAN-ON-A-CHIP

Organ-on-a-chip refers to a microfluidic cell culture device that consists of a clear polymer lined with hollow microfluidic channels that contain cells. Several of these chips can then be lined up, each of them with different types of cells, to replicate the whole body response to a drug, eliminating the need for animal testing (97). Organ-on-a-chip can overcome the disadvantages of the cell cultures phases (i.e. the difficulty in harvesting metabolites, the absence of an interphase, the lack of fluid flow). The chip is made by a technique called soft lithography, pouring a liquid polymer on a silicon substrate, generating repeating patterns in the chip. By using this technique different cells can be exposed to each other or remain independent. In addition, integrating a porous substrate to separate microchannels can be applied to monitor transcellular transport and secretion. This approach allows control over a number of parameters that other techniques such as 3-D cell cultures cannot control. The simplest organ-on-a-chip is made of a single chip containing one kind of cell to study one tissue. Systems that are more complex can be built to recreate interphases between different types of tissues and, mechanical stresses that can trigger the signaling cues can be simulated. In general, organon-a-chip systems allow a more precise replica of in vivo conditions by incorporating parameters, such as fluid shear stress, mechanical stress, and electrochemical gradients. For example, cells can

be adhered to a flexible membrane to experience mechanical stress, replicating processes, such as breathing, or be exposed to an electrical field (97); cellular barrier tightness in organ-in-chips can be measured by transendothelial electrical resistance (98) and vascularization can also be emulated via fibrin scaffolding (99). By replicating the *in vivo* environment, this technology helps improve drug development and manufacturing processes, allowing testing of drug delivery systems as well as cytotoxicity assays. Table 4 presents studies related to organ on a chip.

10. MICROFLUIDICS FOR CANCER CELLS STUDIES

Microfluidic devices can be considered as the part of the first stage of cancer approach because they can be useful in the diagnosis by allowing multiplex screening of cancer cells. This is important for developing a precise, preventive and personalized way of practicing medicine. These systems can be automated and increase the efficiency of anti-cancer drug development. The single cell analysis in large scale enables the identification of heterogeneous subpopulations among the cancer cells. Several devices have been developed to screen for multiple markers simultaneously in different types of cancer. As an example, Fan et al. developed a device for immunedetection of 12 markers related to breast and prostate cancer, and when compared with 22 known patients the results turned out to be reliable (100). Wlodkowic et al. developed an assay in a device with an array of 440 traps that could immobilize leukemia cancer cells and allowed its characterization (101). This is an example of how microdevices can rise the opportunities for further studies on the development of drugs efficiency. Despite the promise of this technology, there is much

research yet to be done because the methods have not been validated with clinical samples and complex environments

11. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Undeniably, microfluidics is one of the remarkable achievements of the 21st century, regarding its impacts and promises in the academic studies. Microfluidics technology has already disclosed its potentials for drug delivery systems and as a platform to screen the therapeutic potential of biologically active compounds and cell-drug carrier interactions. Microfluidic systems can deliver the precise and small amount of drugs to the targets decreasing the necessity for using high concentrations of drugs with considerable side effects. Also, the usage of microfluidic technologies for multiple cells and organ cultures keeps promises for the progress and translation of novel therapies by allowing one drug to analysis the behavior and response of multiple cell lines, tissues or organs in a combined and precise controlled and welldefined system. The future direction of microfluidics as a novel and pioneering science is highly related to developments in miniaturized implantable systems for long-term therapy. Nevertheless, the progress in this area of science cannot be sustained without funding priority, innovations in the area physics and biological sciences, and a close academia-industry collaboration.

12. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

EIMA wrote section 2, 4 and tables 2 and 4, and gathered all sections together. AP performed the outlines, section 1 and 10, and the editing part. AAG wrote sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and tables 3. GAF wrote section 3. RPS edited and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. We would like to acknowledge the School of Engineering and Sciences and to Emerging Technologies and Molecular Nutrition Research Group from Tecnologico de Monterrey for their support. The authors are grateful for the support of CONACYT (Mexico) in the form of a Master's degree scholarship number 446209 for Elena I. Mancera-Andrade and Alejandra Arevalo-Gallegos.

13. REFERENCES

- Roger R. Dmochowski and David R. Staskin: Advances in drug delivery: Improved bioavailability and drug effect. Curr Urol Rep, 3(6), 439–444 (2002) DOI: 10.1007/s11934-002-0094-4
- Jorge F. Coelho, Paula C. Ferreira, Patricia Alves, Rosemeyre Cordeiro, Ana C. Fonseca, Joana R. Góis and Maria H. Gil: Drug delivery systems: Advanced technologies potentially applicable in

- personalized treatments. *EPMA J*, 1(1), 164–209 (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s13167-010-0001-x
- 3. Reza Riahi, Ali Tamayol, Seyed A.M. Shaegh, Amir M. Ghaemmaghami, Mehmet R. Dokmeci and Ali Khademhosseini: Microfluidics for advanced drug delivery systems. *Curr Opin Chem Eng*, 7, 101–112 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.coche.2014.12.001
- 4. Brigitte Stadler: Preface to special topic: Microfluidics in drug delivery. *Biomicrofluidics*, 9, 52501 (2015) DOI: 10.1063/1.4931070
- Torsten Rossow, John A. Heyman, Allen J. Ehrlicher, Arne Langhoff, David A. Weitz, Rainer Haag and Sebastian Seiffert: Controlled synthesis of cell-laden microgels by radical-free gelation in droplet microfluidics. *J Am Chem Soc*, 134(10), 4983–4989 (2012) DOI: 10.1021/ja300460p
- S. Haeberle, D. Hradetzky, A. Schumacher, M. Vosseler, S. Messner and R. Zengerle: Microfluidics for drug delivery. *IFMBE Proc*, 25(VIII), 359–362 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-03887-7 103
- H.A. Stone and S. Kim: Microfluidics: Basic issues, applications, and challenges. AIChE J, 47(6), 1250–1254 (2001)
 DOI: 10.1002/aic.690470602
- Stefano Agnello, Luca Gasperini, Rui L. Reis, João Mano, Giovanna Pitarresi, Fabio S. Palumbo and Gaetano Giammona: Microfluidic production of hyaluronic acid derivative microfibers to control drug release. *Mater Lett*, 182, 309–313 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.matlet.2016.07.014
- Vanessa F. Cardoso, Ana R. Machado, Vânia C. Pinto, Paulo J. Sousa, Gabriela Botelho, Graça Minas, Senentxu Lanceros-Méndez: From superhydrophobic- to superhydrophilicpatterned poly(vinylidene fluoride-cochlorotrifluoroethylene) architectures as a novel platform for biotechnological applications. J Polym Sci Part B Polym Phys, 54(18), 1802–1810 (2016) DOI: 10.1002/polb.24099
- Zhihong Nie, Shengqing Xu, Minseok Seo, Patrick C. Lewis and Eugenia Kumacheva: Polymer particles with various shapes

and morphologies produced in continuous microfluidic reactors. *J Am Chem Soc,* 127(22), 8058–8063 (2005) DOI: 10.1021/ja042494w

- Jun Wu, Xiaoli Zhao, Kelvin W.K. Yeung and Michael K.T. To: Interfacial fast release layer in monodisperse poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) microspheres accelerates the drug release. *Curr Drug Deliv*, 13(5), 720–729 (2016) DOI: 10.2174/1567201813666151130221030
- Qiaobing Xu, Michinao Hashimoto, Tram T. Dang, Todd Hoare, Daniel S. Kohane, George M. Whitesides, Robert Langer and Daniel G. Anderson: Preparation of monodisperse biodegradable polymer microparticles using a microfluidic flowfocusing device for controlled drug delivery. Small, 5(13), 1575–1581 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/smll.200801855
- Stefan Metz, Raphael Holzer and Philippe Renaud: Polyimide-based microfluidic devices. Lab Chip, 1, 29–34, (2001) DOI: 10.1039/b103896f
- 14. Sheenam Thatai, Parul Khurana, Jyoti Boken, Surendra Prasad and Dinesh Kumar: Nanoparticles and core-shell nanocomposite based new generation water remediation materials and analytical techniques: A review. *Microchem J*, 116, 62–76 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.microc.2014.04.001
- Christine Vauthier and Kawthar Bouchemal: Methods for the preparation and manufacture of polymeric nanoparticles. *Pharm Res*, 26(5), 1025–1058 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s11095-008-9800-3
- Oluwatobi S. Oluwafemi, Yolisa Lucwaba, Akhona Gura, Moffat Masabeya, Vuyelwa Ncapayi, Olanrewaju O. Olujimi, Sandile P. Songca: A facile completely "green" size tunable synthesis of maltose-reduced silver nanoparticles without the use of any accelerator. *Colloid Surface B*, 102, 718– 723 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012.09.001
- 17. G.T. Vladisavljevic, Isao Kobayashi and Mitsutoshi Nakajima: Production of uniform droplets using membrane, microchannel and microfluidic emulsification devices. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 13(1), 151–178 (2012)

DOI: 10.1007/s10404-012-0948-0

- 18. George M. Whitesides: 2006. The origins and the future of microfluidics. *Nature*, 442, 368–373 (2006)
 DOI: 10.1038/nature05058
- Catherine Lo, Andreas Jahn, Laurie E. Locascio and Wyatt N. Vreeland: Controlled self-assembly of monodisperse niosomes by microfluidic hydrodynamic focusing. *Langmuir*, 26(11), 8559–8566 (2010) DOI: 10.1021/la904616s
- Rohit Karnik, Frank Gu, Pamela Basto, Christopher Cannizzaro, Lindsey Dean, William Kyei-Manu, Robert Langer and Omid C. Farokhzad: Microfluidic platform for controlled synthesis of polymeric nanoparticles. *Nano Lett*, 8(9), 2906–2912 (2008) DOI: 10.1021/nl801736q
- Christophe A. Serra and Zhenqi Chang: Microfluidic-assisted synthesis of polymer particles. *Chem Eng Technol*, 31(8), 1099– 1115 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/ceat.200800219
- Chun-Xia Zhao: Multiphase flow microfluidics for the production of single or multiple emulsions for drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 65(11–12), 1420–1446 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2013.05.009
- Jenni Pessi, Hélder A. Santos, Inna Miroshnyk, Jouko Yliruusi, David A. Weitz, Sabiruddin Mirza: Microfluidics-assisted engineering of polymeric microcapsules with high encapsulation efficiency for protein drug delivery. *Int J Pharm*, 472(1–2), 82–87 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/i.iipharm.2014.06.012
- 24. Ikram U. Khan, Lukas Stolch, Christophe A. Serra, Nicholas Anton, Roman Akasov and Thierry F. Vandamme: Microfluidic conceived pH sensitive core-shell particles for dual drug delivery. *Int J Pharm*, 478(1), 78–87 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.10.010
- 25. Jintao Zhu and Ryan C. Hayward: 2008. Hierarchically structured microparticles formed by interfacial instabilities of emulsion droplets containing amphiphilic block copolymers. *Angew Chemie Int Ed*, 47, 2113–2116 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/anie.200704863
- Aman Bains, Jeremy E. Wulff and Matthew G. Moffitt: Microfluidic synthesis of dye-loaded

© 1996-2018

84

polycaprolactone-block-poly(ethylene oxide) nanoparticles: Insights into flow-directed loading and *in vitro* release for drug delivery. *J Colloid Interface Sci*, 475, 136–148 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2016.04.010

- Casper Kunstmann-Olsen, Martin M. Hanczyc, James Hoyland, Steen Rasmussen and Horst G. Rubahn: Uniform droplet splitting and detection using Lab-on-Chip flow cytometry on a microfluidic PDMS device. Sensor Actuat B-Chem, 229, 7–13 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2016.01.120
- 28. Yun Chen, Luyan Zhang and Gang Chen: Fabrication, modification, and application of poly(methyl methacrylate) microfluidic chips. *Electrophoresis*, 29, 1801–1814 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/elps.200700552
- 29. Alexander Muck, Joseph Wang, Michael Jacobs, Gang Chen, Madhu P. Chatrathi, Vlastimil Jurka, Zdeněk Vyborny, Scott D. Spillman, Gautham Sridharan and Michael J. Schöning: Fabrication of poly(methyl methacrylate) microfluidic chips by atmospheric molding. *Anal Chem*, 76(8), 2290–2297 (2004) DOI: 10.1021/ac035030+
- 30. D. Ogończyk, J. Wegrzyn, P. Jankowski, B. Dabrowski and P. Garstecki: Bonding of microfluidic devices fabricated in polycarbonate. *Lab Chip*, 10, 1324–1327 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1039/b924439e
- 31. Rajeeb K. Jena and C.Y. Yue: Cyclic olefin copolymer based microfluidic devices for biochip applications: Ultraviolet surface grafting using 2-methacryloyloxyethyl phosphorylcholine. *Biomicrofluidics*, 6(1), 1–12 (2012)
 DOI: 10.1063/1.3682098
- 32. L. El Fissi, Denis Vandormael and Laurent A. Francis: Direct assembly of cyclic olefin copolymer microfluidic devices helped by dry photoresist. *Sensor Actuat A-Phys*, 223, 76–83 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.sna.2014.12.016
- I. Hutter, E. Müller, P.M. Kristiansen, S. Kresak and L. Tiefenauer: Polymer-based microfluidic device for measuring membrane protein activities. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 14(3) 421–429 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1007/s10404-012-1061-0

- 34. S. Metz, S. Jiguet, A. Bertsch, Ph. Renaud: Polyimide and SU-8 microfluidic devices manufactured by heat-depolymerizable sacrificial material technique. *Lab Chip*, 4, 114–120 (2004)
 DOI: 10.1039/b310866j
- 35. Daniel Nieto, Ramiro Couceiro, Maria Aymerich, Rafael Lopez-Lopez, Miguel Abal and María T. Flores-Arias: A laser-based technology for fabricating a soda-lime glass based microfluidic device for circulating tumour cell capture. *Colloid Surface B*, 134, 363–369 (2015)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2015.07.007
- 36. Seyed A. Nabavi, Sai Gu, Goran T. Vladisavljević and Ekanem E. Ekanem: Dynamics of double emulsion break-up in three phase glass capillary microfluidic devices. *J Colloid Interf Sci*, 450, 279–287 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2015.03.032
- A. Ben Azouz, M. Vázquez, Brett Paull and Dermont Brabazon: Laser processing of quartz for microfluidic device fabrication. Adv Mat Res, 445, 436–441 (2012) DOI: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.445.436
- 38. M. Viefhues, S. Manchanda, T.C. Chao, D. Anselmetti, J. Regtmeier and A. Ros: Physisorbed surface coatings for poly(dimethylsiloxane) and quartz microfluidic devices. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 401, 2113–2122 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s00216-011-5301-z
- Isao Kobayashi, Kunihiko Uemura and Mitsutoshi Nakajima: Formulation of monodisperse emulsions using submicronchannel arrays. *Colloid Surface A*, 296(1), 285–289 (2007)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2006.09.015
- 40. Masundi B. Wabuyele, Sean M. Ford, Wieslaw Stryjewski, James Barrow and Steven A. Soper, 2001. Single molecule detection of double-stranded DNA in poly(methylmethacrylate) and polycarbonate microfluidic devices. *Electrophoresis*, 22(18), 3939–3948 (2001) DOI: 10.1002/1522-2683(200110)22:18\ 3939::AID-ELPS3939\3.0.CO;2-9
- 41. Chia-Wen Chang, Yung-Ju Cheng, Melissa Tu, Ying-Hua Chen, Chien-Chung Peng, Wei-Hao Liao and Yi-Chung Tung: A polydimethylsiloxane-polycarbonate hybrid

microfluidic device capable of generating perpendicular chemical and oxygen gradients for cell culture studies. *Lab Chip*, 14, 3762–3772 (2014) DOI: 10.1039/c4lc00732h

- 42. Jing Tan, Shaowei Li, Kai Wang and Guangsheng Luo: Gas-liquid flow in T-junction microfluidic devices with a new perpendicular rupturing flow route. *Chem Eng J*, 146(3), 428–433 (2009) DOI: 10.1016/j.cej.2008.10.024
- F.Y. Ushikubo, F.S. Birribilli, D.R.B. Oliveira and R.L. Cunha: Y and T junction microfluidic devices: effect of fluids and interface properties and operating conditions. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 17, 711–720 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s10404-014-1348-4
- 44. Min-Kyoung Kim, Min A. Kim, Ratchapol Jenjob, Don-Haeng Lee and Su-Geun Yang:Capillary microfluidics-derived doxorubicin-containing human serum albumin microbeads for transarterial chemoembolization of hepatic cancer. *Mater Sci Eng C*, 62, 391–397 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.msec.2016.01.073
- 45. Taotao Fu, Youguang Ma, Denis Funfschilling and Huai Z. Li: Bubble formation and breakup mechanism in a microfluidic flow-focusing device. *Chem Eng Sci*, 64, 2392–2400 (2009)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.ces.2009.02.022
- Michael A. Daniele, Darryl A. Boyd, David R. Mott and Frances S. Ligler: 3D hydrodynamic focusing microfluidics for emerging sensing technologies, *Biosens Bioelectron*, 67, 25–34 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2014.07.002
- 47. Takasi Nisisako and Takeshi Hatsuzawa: Microfluidic fabrication of oil-filled polymeric microcapsules with independently controllable size and shell thickness via Janus to core-shell evolution of biphasic droplets. Sensor Actuat B-Chem, 223, 209—

216 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2015.09.085

48. Nancy Y. Hernández-Marín, Consuelo Lobato-Calleros, Angélica Román-Guerrero, Jose Alvarez-Ramirez and E. Jaime Vernon-Carter: Physical properties and release behaviour of caffeine multiple emulsions stabilised by binary or ternary biopolymer soluble complexes under acid,

- bile and yogurt storage conditions. *Food Hydrocolloid*, 58, 42–48 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.foodhyd.2016.02.008
- 49. Nauman Khalid, Isao Kobayashi, Marcos A. Neves, Kunihiko Uemura, Mitsutoshi Nakajima, Hiroshi Nabetani: Microchannel emulsification study on formulation and stability characterization of monodisperse oil-in-water emulsions encapsulating quercetin. *Food Chem*, 212, 27–34 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2016.05.154
- Magdalena de Jesús Rostro-Alanis, Elena I. Mancera-Andrade, Mayra B.G. Patiño, Daniel Arrieta-Baez, Braulio Cardenas, Sergio O. Martinez-Chapa, and Roberto Parra-Saldívar: Nanostructured materials – a minireview. *Biocatalysis*, 2, 1–24 (2016) DOI: 10.1515/boca-2016-0001
- 51. Toru Orita, Masahiro Tomita, Takao Saito, Nasakazu Nishida and Katsuya Kato: Immobilization of cholesterol esterase in mesoporous silica materials and its hydrolytic activity toward diethyl phthalate. *Mater Sci Eng C*, 32(4), 718–724 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.msec.2012.01.014
- 52. Fabio A. Muñoz-Guerrero, Sergio Águila, Rafael Vazquez-Duhalt and Joel B. Alderete: Enhancement of operational stability of chloroperoxidase from Caldariomyces fumago by immobilization onto mesoporous supports and the use of co-solvents. *J Mol Catal B-Enzym*, 116, 1–8 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.molcatb.2015.02.014
- Jianping Li, Tuzhi Peng and Yuqiang Peng: A cholesterol biosensor based on entrapment of cholesterol oxidase in a silicic sol-gel matrix at a Prussian Blue modified electrode. *Electroanal*, 15(12), 1031–1037 (2003) DOI: 10.1002/elan.200390124
- Shweta Sharma, Ashwni Verma, B. Venkatesh Teja, Gitu Pandey, Naresh Mittapelly, Ritu Trivedi and P.R. Mishra: An insight into functionalized calcium based inorganic nanomaterials in biomedicine: Trends and transitions. *Colloid Surface B*, 133, 120–139 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2015.05.014
- William B. Liechty, David R. Kryscio, Brandon V. Slaughter and Nicholas A. Peppas: Polymers for drug delivery systems. *Annu Rev Chem Biomol*, 1, 149–73 (2010)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-073009-100847

- Aurora Perez, Rebeca Hernández, Diego Velasco, Dan Voicu and Carmen Mijangos: Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) particles prepared by microfluidics and conventional methods. Modulated particle size and rheology. *J Colloid Interface Sci*, 441, 90–97 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.jcis.2014.10.049
- 57. Kieran Keohane, Des Brennan, Paul Galvin and Brendan T. Griffin: Silicon microfluidic flow focusing devices for the production of size-controlled PLGA based drug loaded microparticles. *Int J Pharm*, 467(1–2), 60–69 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.03.051
- 58. Fuminori Ito, Hiroyuki Honnami, Hiroyoshi Kawakami, Kiyoshi Kanamura and Kimiko Makino: Preparation and properties of PLGA microspheres containing hydrophilic drugs by the SPG (shirasu porous glass) membrane emulsification technique. *Colloid Surface B*, 67(1), 20–25 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2008.07.008
- 59. Thomas Schneider, Hong Zhao, John K. Jackson, Glenn H. Chapman, James Dykes and Urs O. Häfeli: Use of hydrodynamic flow focusing for the generation of biodegradable camptothecin-loaded polymer microspheres. *J Pharm Sci*, 97(11), 4943–4954 (2008) DOI: 10.1002/jps.21344
- A. M. Gañán-Calvo, J.M. Montanero, L. Martín-Banderas and M. Flores-Mosquera: Building functional materials for health care and pharmacy from microfluidic principles and Flow Focusing. Adv Drug Deliver Rev, 65(11–12), 1447–1469 (2013)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.addr.2013.08.003
- 61. Lian-Yan Wang, Yong-Hong Gu, Zhiguo Su and Guang-Hui Ma: Preparation and improvement of release behavior of chitosan microspheres containing insulin. *Int J Pharm*, 311(1–2), 187–195 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.12.033
- 62. Lifeng Kang, Bong G. Chung, Robert Langer and Ali Khademhosseini: Microfluidics for drug discovery and development: from target selection to product lifecycle management. *Drug Discov Today*, 13(1–2), 1–13 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.drudis.2007.10.003. Microfluidics
- 63. Mariana Guimarães Sá Correia, Maria L. Briuglia, Fabio Niosi and Dimitrios

- A. Lamprou: Microfluidic manufacturing of phospholipid nanoparticles: Stability, encapsulation efficacy, and drug release. *Int J Pharm*, 516(1–2), 91–99 (2017) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.11.025
- 64. Madhuvanthi A. Kandadai, Prithviraj Mukherjee, Himanshu Shekhar, George J. Shaw, Ian Papautsky and Christy K. Holland: Microfluidic manufacture of rt-PA -loaded echogenic liposomes. *Biomed Microdevices*, 18, 48 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s10544-016-0072-0
- 65. Shanta Dhar, Frank X. Gu, Robert Langer, Omid C. Farokhzad and Stephen J. Lippard: Targeted delivery of cisplatin to prostate cancer cells by aptamer functionalized Pt(IV) prodrug-PLGA-PEG nanoparticles. P Natl Acad Sci Usa, 105(45), 17356–17361 (2008) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0809154105
- 66. Hui Xie, Zhi-Gang She, Si Wang, Gaurav Sharma and Jeffrey W. Smith: One-step fabrication of polymeric Janus nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Langmuir*, 28(9), 4459– 4463 (2012) DOI: 10.1021/la2042185
- Amit K. Jain, Chang H. Lee and Harvinder S. Gill: 5-Aminolevulinic acid coated microneedles for photodynamic therapy of skin tumors. *J Control Release*, 239, 72–81 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.08.015
- 68. A. Caliò, P. Dardano, V. Di Palma, M.F. Bevilacqua, A. Di Matteo, H. luele, L. De Stefano: Polymeric microneedles based enzymatic electrodes for electrochemical biosensing of glucose and lactic acid. Sensor Actuator B-Chem, 236, 343–349 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2016.05.156
- 69. Krupa Siddhapura, Harshad and Sanyog Immunostimulatory Jain: effect of tetanus toxoid loaded chitosan following nanoparticles microneedles assisted immunization. Nanomedicine, 12(1), 213–222 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.nano.2015.10.009
- Bo Huang, Hongkai Wu, Devaki Bhaya, Arthur Grossman, Sebastien Granier, Brian K. Kobilka and Richard N. Zare: Counting low-copy number proteins in a single cell. Science, 315(5808), 81–84 (2007) DOI: 10.1126/science.1133992

- 71. J. Casals-Terré: Microfluidic chip-capillary electrophoresis devices. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 408, 1989–1991 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s00216-015-9291-0
- 72. Vanessa Chenouard, Lucas Brusselle, Jean-Marie Heslan, Séverine Remy, Séverine Ménoret, Claire Usal, Laure-Hélène Ouisse, Tuan Huy NGuyen and Ignacio Anegon: A rapid and cost-effective method for genotyping genome-edited animals: A heteroduplex mobility assay using microfluidic capillary electrophoresis. *J Genet Genomics* 43(5), 341–348 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jgg.2016.04.005
- 73. Luyan Zhang, Wei Zhang, Weilong Chen and Gang Chen: Simultaneous determination of five bioactive constituents in Rhizoma Chuanxiong by capillary electrophoresis with a carbon nanotube-polydimethylsiloxane composite electrode. *J Pharmaceut Biomed*, 131, 107–112 (2016)

 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpba.2016.08.031
- Sung W. Ahn, Sung S. Lee, Seong J. Lee and Ju M. Kim: Microfluidic particle separator utilizing sheathless elasto-inertial focusing, *Chem Eng Sci*, 126, 237–243 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.ces.2014.12.019
- Chao Liu, Chundong Xue, Xiaodong Chen, Lei Shan, Yu Tian and Guoqing Hu: Sizebased separation of particles and cells utilizing viscoelastic effects in straight microchannels, *Anal Chem*, 87(12), 6041– 6048 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1021/acs.analchem.5b00516
- 76. Jeonghun Nam, Bumseok Namgung, Chwee T. Lim, Jung-Eun Bae, Hwa L. Leo, Kwang Soo Cho and Sangho Kim: Microfluidic device for sheathless particle focusing and separation using a viscoelastic fluid. *J Chromatogr A*, 1406, 244–250 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.chroma.2015.06.029
- 77. J.P. Dijkshoorn, M.A.I. Schutyser, R.M. Wagterveld, C.G.P.H. Schroën and R.M. Boom: A comparison of microfiltration and inertia-based microfluidics for large scale suspension separation. *Sep Purif Technol*, 173, 86–92 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.seppur.2016.09.018
- 78. Alexander McPherson and Jose A. Gavira: Introduction to protein crystallization. *Acta Crystallogr F*, 70, 2–20 (2014) DOI: 10.1107/S2053230X13033141

- 79. Patricia Vázquez-Villegas, Eric Ouellet, Claudia González, Federico Ruiz-Ruiz, Marco Rito-Palomares, Charles A. Haynes and Oscar Aguilar: A microdevice assisted approach for the preparation, characterization and selection of continuous aqueous two-phase systems: from micro to bench-scale. *Lab Chip*, 16, 2662–2672 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1039/C6LC00333H
- Li Wang, Kailei Sun, Xiaojian Hu, Gang Li, Qinghui Jin and Zhao Jianlong: A centrifugal microfluidic device for screening protein crystallization conditions by vapor diffusion. Sensor Actuat B-Chem, 219, 105–111 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2015.04.105
- 81. Ying Zhu, Li-Na Zhu, Rui Guo, Heng-Jun Cui, Sheng Ye and Qun Fang: Nanoliter-scale protein crystallization and screening with a microfluidic droplet robot. *Sci Rep*, 4, 5046 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/srep05046
- 82. Clothilde Longuet, Ayako Yamada, Yong Chen, Damien Baigl and Jacques Fattaccioli: Spatially-controlled protein crystallization in microfluidic chambers. *J Cryst Growth*, 386, 179–182 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2013.10.011
- 83. BinfengYin, Yu Wang, Mingling Dong, Jing Wu, Bei Ran, Mengxia Xie, Sang Woo Joo and Yiping Chen: One-step multiplexed detection of foodborne pathogens: Combining a quantum dot-mediated reverse assaying strategy and magnetic separation. *Biosens. Bioelectron*, 86, 996–1002 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2016.07.106
- 84. Wenjiao Zhou, Wenbing Liang, Daxiu Li, Ruo Yuan and Yun Xiang: Dual-color encoded DNAzyme nanostructures for multiplexed detection of intracellular metal ions in living cells, *Biosens Bioelectron*, 85, 573–579 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2016.05.058
- 85. Wenwen Wang, Xiaoxiao Su, Hui Ouyang, Lin Wang and Zhifeng Fu: A novel immunochromatographic assay based on a time-resolved chemiluminescence strategy for the multiplexed detection of ractopamine and clenbuterol. *Anal Chim Acta*, 917, 79–84 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2016.03.001

© 1996-2018

88

86. Qi Shu, Limin Wang, Hui Ouyang, Wenwen Wang, Fengquan Liu and Zhifeng Fu: Multiplexed immunochromatographic test strip for time-resolved chemiluminescent detection of pesticide residues using a bifunctional antibody. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 87, 908–914 (2017)

DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2016.09.057

- 87. Yongli Chen, Dan Gao, Hongxia Liu, Shuo Lin and Yuyang Jiang: Drug cytotoxicity and signaling pathway analysis with three-dimensional tumor spheroids in a microwell-based microfluidic chip for drug screening. *Anal Chim Acta*, 898, 85–92 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2015.10.006
- 88. Douglas M. Ornoff, Yuli Wang, Aangela Proctor, Akash S. Shah and Nancy L. Allbritton: Co-fabrication of chitosan and epoxy photoresist to form microwell arrays with permeable hydrogel bottoms. *Biomaterials*, 74, 77–88 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.09.032
- 89. S. Kabiri Ameri, P.K. Singh and S. Sonkusale: Utilization of graphene electrode in transparent microwell arrays for high throughput cell trapping and lysis. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 61, 625–630 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2014.05.067
- Murray P. Meissner, Zhehua Xu, Gavin C. Jones, Susanna H. Minnaar and Susan T.L. Harrison: A novel microwell-based analytical technique for studying ferrous iron biooxidation activity, *Miner Eng*, 60, 8–13 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.mineng.2014.01.012
- 91. Hannes-Christian Moeller, Matthew Mian, Shamit Shrivastava, Bong Geun Chung and Ali Khademhosseini: A microwell array system for stem cell culture. *Biomaterials*, 29, 752–763 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.10.030
- 92. Tao Xu, Cheuk W. Li, Xinsheng Yao, Guoping Cai and Mengsu Yang: Microfluidic formation of single cell array for parallel analysis of Ca2+ release-activated Ca2+ (CRAC) channel activation and inhibition. *Anal Biochem*, 396(2), 173–179 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2009.09.018
- Matthias Meier, Julia Kennedy-Darling, Se Hoon Choi, Eric M. Norstrom and Sangram S. Sisodia and Rustem F. Ismagilov: Plugbased microfluidics with defined surface

chemistry to miniaturize and control aggregation of amyloidogenic peptides. *Angew Chem Int Edit*, 48(8), 1487–1489 (2009)

DOI: 10.1002/anie.200805225

94. Liang Li, Qiang Fu, Christohper A. Kors, Lance Stewart, Peter Nollert, Philip D. Laible and Rustem F. Ismagilov: A plugbased microfluidic system for dispensing lipidic cubic phase (LCP) material validated by crystallizing membrane proteins in lipidic mesophases. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 8(6), 789–798 (2010)

DOI: 10.1007/s10404-009-0512-8

- 95. Timothy R. Kline, Matthew K. Runyon, Mohammad Pothiawala and Rustem F. Ismagilov: ABO, D blood typing and subtyping using plug-based microfluidics. *Anal Chem*, 80(16), 6190–6197 (2008) DOI: 10.1021/ac800485g
- 96. Jean-Niklas Schönberg, Thomas Brandstetter and Jürgen Rühe: Particle extraction in plug-based microfluidics. *Procedia Engineer*, 120, 96–99 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.proeng.2015.08.574
- 97. Sangeeta N. Bhatia and Donald E. Ingber: Microfluidic organs-on-chips. *Nat Biotechnol*, 32, 760–772 (2014) DOI: 10.1038/nbt.2989
- 98. Marinke W. van der Helm, Mathieu Odijk, Jean-Phikippe Frimat, Andries D. van der Meer, Jan C.T. Eijkel, Albert van den Berg and Loes I. Segerink: Direct quantification of transendothelial electrical resistance in organs-on-chips. *Biosens Bioelectron*, 85, 924–929 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.bios.2016.06.014
- 99. Tobias Hasenberg, Severin Mühleder, Andrea Dotzler, Sophie Bauer, Krystyna Labuda, Wolfgang Holnthoner, Heinz Redl and Ronald Lauster: Emulating human microcapillaries in a multi-organ-chip platform. *J Biotechnol*, 216, 1–10 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2015.09.038
- 100. Z. Hugh Fan and Weihong Tan: DNA nanospheres with microfluidics: a promising platform for cancer diagnosis?. *Nanomedicine*, 8(11), 1731–1733 (2013) DOI: 10.2217/nnm.13.163
- 101. Donald Wlodkowic, Shannon Faley, Michael Zagnoni, John P. Wikswo and Jonathan

- M. Cooper: Microfluidic single-cell array cytometry for the analysis of tumor apoptosis. *Anal Chem*, 81(13), 5517–5523 (2009) DOI: 10.1021/ac9008463
- 102. Elisabeth Kastner, Varun Verma, Deborah Lowry and Yvonne Perrie: Microfluidiccontrolled manufacture of liposomes for the solubilisation of a poorly water soluble drug. *Int J Pharm*, 485(1–2), 122–130 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.02.063
- 103. Peng Xue, Yafeng Wu, Nishanth V. Menon and Yuejun Kang: Microfluidic synthesis of monodisperse PEGDA microbeads for sustained release of 5-fluorouracil. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 18, 333–342 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s10404-014-1436-5
- 104. Israfil Kucuk, Zeeshan Ahmad, Mohan Edirisinghe and Mine Orlu-Gul: Utilization of microfluidic V-junction device to prepare surface itraconazole adsorbed nanospheres. *Int J Pharm*, 472(1–2), 339–346 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.06.023
- 105. Weijiang Yu, Guohua Jiang, Depeng Liu, Lei Li, Hua Chen, Yongkun Liu, Qin Huang, Zaizai Tong, Juming Yao and Xiangdong Kong: Fabrication of biodegradable composite microneedles based on calcium sulfate and gelatin for transdermal delivery of insulin. *Mater Sci Eng C*, 71, 725–734 (2017)

DOI: 10.1016/j.msec.2016.10.063

106. Yingji Cao, Yaotian Tao, Youjun Zhou and Shuangying Gui: Development of sinomenine hydrochloride-loaded polyvinylalcohol/maltose microneedle for transdermal delivery. *J Drug Deliv Sci Tec*, 35, 1–7 (2016)

DOI: 10.1016/j.jddst.2016.06.007

- 107. Jaya M. Arya, Kristopher Dewitt, Maya Scott-Garrard, Yu-Wei Chiang and Mark R. Prausnitz: Rabies vaccination in dogs using a dissolving microneedle patch. *J Control Release*, 239, 19–26 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.08.012
- 108. Zhuangzhi Zhu, Xiaohua Ye, Zhiqiang Ku, Qingwei Liu, Chaoyun Shen, Huafei Luo, Hansen Luan, Chenghao Zhang, Shaoqiong Tian, CheeYen Lim, Zhong Huang and Hao Wang: Transcutaneous immunization via rapidly dissolvable microneedles protects against hand-foot-and-mouth disease

caused by enterovirus 71. *J Control Release*, 243, 291–302 (2016)

DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.10.019

- 109. Pim Schipper, Koen van der Maaden, Stefan Romeijn, Cees Oomens, Gideon Kersten, Wim Jiskoot and Joke Bouwstra: Repeated fractional intradermal dosing of an inactivated polio vaccine by a single hollow microneedle leads to superior immune responses. *J Control Release*, 242, 141– 147 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.07.055
- 110. Shinying Lau, Jie Fei, Haoran Liu, Weixing Chen and Ran Liu: Multilayered pyramidal dissolving microneedle patches with flexible pedestals for improving effective drug delivery. *J Control Release*, (n.d.) (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.08.031
- 111. Ji-Yeon Kim, Mee-Ree Han, Yong-Han Kim, Seung-Woo Shin, Su-Youn Nam and Jung-Hwan Park: Tip-loaded dissolving microneedles for transdermal delivery of donepezil hydrochloride for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*, 105, 148–155 (2016)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.06.006
- 112. E. Stein Esser, Andrey A. Romanyuk, Elena V. Vassilieva, Joshy Jacob, Mark R. Prausnitz, Richard W. Compans and Ioanna Skountzou: Tetanus vaccination with a dissolving microneedle patch confers protective immune responses in pregnancy. *J Control Release*, 236, 47–56 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.06.026
- 113. Omid Khandan, Malik Y. Kahook and Masaru P. Rao: Fenestrated microneedles for ocular drug delivery. Sensor Actuat B-Chem, 223, 15–23 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.snb.2015.09.071
- 114. Jing Liu, Liping Pan, Xuanhong Cheng and Yevgeny Berdichevsky: Perfused drop microfluidic device for brain slice culturebased drug discovery, *Biomed Microdevices*, 18, 46 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s10544-016-0073-z
- 115. Mengying Zhou, Huipeng Ma, Lin Hongli and Jianhua Qin: Induction of epithelial-tomesenchymal transition in proximal tubular epithelial cells on microfluidic devices. *Biomaterials*, 35, 1390–1401 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.10.070

- 116. Shuo Cui, Zhong-Zhou He, Zi-Wei Zhu, Zhao Sun, Yi-Tong Xu, Jia-Liang Wang, Yan-Ying Bao, De-Yu Ji, Shun Liu, Jing-Tai Liu, Jin-Hui Zhang and Qi Wang: Microfluidic analysis of PM2.5.-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in human bronchial epithelial 16HBE cells. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 19(2), 263–272 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s10404-014-1499-3
- 117. L. M. Griep, F. Wolbers, B. de Wagenaar, P.M. ter Braak, B.B. Weksler, I.A. Romero, P.O. Couraud, I. Vermes, A.D. van der Meer and A. van den Berg: BBB ON CHIP: microfluidic platform to mechanically and biochemically modulate blood-brain barrier function, *Biomed Microdevices*, 15(1), 145–150 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s10544-012-9699-7

- 118. Shawn Mishra, Ankush Thakur, Stephen Redenti and Maribel Vazquez: A model microfluidics-based system for the human and mouse retina. *Biomed Microdevices*, 17, 107 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s10544-015-0002-6
- 119. Yu S. Zhang, Andrea Arneri, Simone Bersini, Su-Ryon Shin, Kai Zhu, Zahra Goli-Malekabadi, Julio Aleman, cristina Colosi and Fabio Busignani: Bioprinting 3D microfibrous scaffolds for engineering endothelialized myocardium and heart-ona-chip. *Biomaterials*, 110, 45–59 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.09.003
- 120. JiSoo Park, Bo K. Lee, Gi S. Jeong, Jung K. Hyun, C. Justin Lee and Sang-Hoon Lee: Three-dimensional brain-on-a-chip with an interstitial level of flow and its application as an *in vitro* model of Alzheimer's disease. *Lab Chip*, 15, 141–50 (2015) DOI: 10.1039/c4lc00962b
- 121. Jean-Pierre Dollé, Barclay Morrison, Rene S. Schloss and Martin L. Yarmush: An organotypic uniaxial strain model using microfluidics. *Lab Chip*, 13, 432–42 (2013) DOI: 10.1039/c2lc41063j
- 122. Tomoyuki Kaneko, Fumimasa Nomura and Kenji Yasuda: On-chip constructive cell-network study (I): contribution of cardiac fibroblasts to cardiomyocyte beating synchronization and community effect. *J Nanobiotechnology*, 9, 21 (2011) DOI: 10.1186/1477-3155-9-21

123. Kenji Yasuda, Akihiro Hattori, Hyonchoi Kim, Hideyuki Terazono, Masahito Hayashi, Hiroyuki Takei, Tomoyuki Kaneko and Fumimasa Nomura: Non-destructive onchip imaging flow cell-sorting system for onchip cellomics. *Microfluid Nanofluid*, 14(6), 907–931 (2013)

DOI: 10.1007/s10404-012-1112-6

Abbreviations: DDS: drug delivery systems, MP: microparticle, NP: nanoparticles, PDMS: polydimethylsiloxane. PMMA: poly(methyl methacrylate), PC: polycarbonate, COC: cyclic olefin copolymer, PEEK: polyetheretherketone, PIPR: polyimide plastic resin, PVA: poly(vinyl alcohol), PLA: polylactide, PLGA: poly(lacticco-glycolic acid), PEG: poly(ethylene glycol), PCL: poly(caprolactone), SPG: shirasu porous glass, PK: pharmacokinetic, PD: pharmacodynamics. HFF: hydrodynamic flow focusing, Dil: 1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'tetramethyl indocarbocyanine perchlorate, PCLb-PEO: poly(ε-caprolactone)-block-poly(ethylene DMF: dimethylformamide, oxide). doxorubicin, HAS: human serum albumin, TACE: transcatheter arterial chemoembolization, PTFE: polytetrafluoroethylene, rt-PA: recombinant plasminogen tissue-type activator. igG2: immunoglobulin G2, HTS: high-throughput screening, EBs: embryoid bodies.

Key Words: Microfluidics, Drug delivery, Highthroughput screening, Organ-on-a-chip, Cancer cells screening

Send correspondence to: Roberto Parra-Saldivar, Ave. Eugenio Garza Sada 2501, Monterrey, N.L., Mexico, 64849, Tel: 52-81-83582000, Fax: 52-81-83582000, E-mail: r.parra@itesm.mx

© 1996-2018

91